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SouUttillornligrItCorfixos
FILED

UMTED STATES DISTRICT COURT AUO 1 4 2018SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION David Bradley, Clerk of Court

Kenneth Coleman and Paul Ameris, Case No.:

individually, on behalf of others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs, COLLECTIVE ACTION
vs. COMPLAINT

Assurant, Inc., Interfinancial Inc., Violation of Fair Labor Standards
American Security Insurance Act, 29 U.S.C. § 207

Company, and Assurant Services, LLC

Defendant(s).

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This is a nationwide collective action under the Fair Labor Standards

Act ("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. brought by individual and representative

Plaintiffs Kenneth Coleman and Paul Ameris (collectively "Plaintiffs") on behalf

of themselves and the putative collective action members (the "FLSA Collective").

Defendants Assurant, Inc. ("Assurant"), Interfinancial Inc., Assurant Services,

LLC, and American Security Insurance Company (collectively "Defendants")

employ and employed Plaintiffs and the putative FLSA Collective members as

StaffAppraisers, and in similar or related positions ("Appraisers").
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2. Defendant classifies Appraisers as "exempt" employees, paying them

a base salary plus non-discretionary incentive payments for production beyond a

threshold number of appraisal reports. Appraisers routinely work more than forty

(40) hours in a workweek but are not paid overtime compensation for the hours

worked over forty (40). Defendants should have classified Appraisers as non-

exempt employees under federal wage and hour law, and paid Appraisers overtime

consistent with the requirements of federal wage and hour laws, but did not. These

employees are similarly situated under the FLSA.

3. The FLSA Collective includes all persons Defendants employed as

Appraisers in the United States within three years prior to this action's filing date

through the date of this action's final disposition (the "FLSA Collective Perioe).

4. Plaintiffs seek relief for the FLSA Collective to remedy Defendants'

failure to pay appropriate overtime compensation.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331 because Plaintiffs bring this case under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.

Each representative Plaintiff signed a consent foiiii to join this lawsuit, attached as

Exhibits A and B.

6. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Southern

District of Texas, Houston Division, under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a

2
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substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims set forth in this Complaint

occurred in the Southern District of Texas.

III. THE PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Kenneth Coleman resides in Conroe, Texas. Plaintiff

Coleman worked as a Staff Appraiser for Defendants from approximately February

27, 2017 to June 17, 2018. Plaintiff Coleman performed appraisals for Defendants

throughout Montgomery and Harris Counties. Throughout Plaintiff Coleman's

employment, Defendants classified Plaintiff Coleman as an exempt employee.

Plaintiff Coleman brings his claim on behalf of himself and the FLSA Collective.

A written consent form for Plaintiff Coleman is attached as Exhibit A.

8. Individual and representative Plaintiff Paul Ameris resides in Miami,

Florida. Defendants hired him as an Appraiser in or around May 2016. Plaintiff

Ameris performs appraisals for Defendants throughout Miami-Dade County.

Throughout Plaintiff Amerisemployment, Defendants have classified Plaintiff

Ameris as an exempt employee. Plaintiff Ameris brings his claim on behalf of

himself and the FLSA Collective. A written consent form for Plaintiff Ameris is

attached as Exhibit B.

9. Upon information and belief, Defendant Assurant, Inc. is a global,

publicly-traded corporation headquartered in New York that does business and

3
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maintains offices in many states throughout the United States, including Texas and

Florida.

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant Interfinancial Inc. maintains

its principal office in New York and provide services in many states throughout the

United States, including Texas and Florida.

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant Assurant Services, LLC

maintains its principal office Georgia and provides valuation services in many

states throughout the United States, including Texas and Florida.

12. Upon information and belief, Defendant American Security Insurancp

Company maintains its principal office in Georgia and provides insurance services

in many states throughout the United States, including Texas and Florida.

13. Upon information and belief, Defendant Assurant, Inc. is the parent

company of Interfinancial Inc., and Interfinancial Inc. is the parent company of

Assurant Services, LLC and American Security Insurance Company. "Assurant"

and "American Security Insurance Companyare the employer names listed at the

top ofPlaintiffs' wage statements.

14. At all relevant times, Defendants' gross annual sales made or business

done has been in excess of $500,000. See FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s).

15. At all relevant times, Defendant is, and has been, an "employer"

engaged in interstate commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce,

4
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within the meaning of FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). Defendant operates in interstate

commerce by, among other things, dispatching Appraisers to multiple states to

perform appraisals, including in Texas and Florida.

IV. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

16. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and the following

other similarly-situated employees:

FLSA Collective: All persons who Defendants employed as Appraisers, and

who Defendants classified as exempt from overtime under the federal Fair

Labor Standards Act, including employees with the job title "Staff

Appraise?and other employees performing the same or similar duties for

Defendants within the United States at any time from three years prior to this

Complaint's filing to the case's final disposition.

17. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective members are' residential real

estate appraisers for Defendants.

18. Defendants assign Appraisers detailed production orders that include

vendor specifications, guidelines, and deadlines by which Appraisers are to

complete the production orders, i.e., to turn around appraisals.

I Though Defendants no longer employ Plaintiff Coleman and other putative FLSA Collective
members, the pleadings will proceed hereafter in the present tense.

5
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19. The primary duties of Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective consist of

routine mental work, dictated by Defendantsdetailed guidelines. In essence,

Defendants require Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective members to follow detailed

steps and retrieve or verify required data for each appraisal they produce.

Appraisers are required to use specific forms to complete appraisal reports.

Defendants tell Appraisers which forms to use based on the lender. Appraisers

complete these reports using information dictated by the company and vendors,

using data obtained during on-site visits and electronic databases.

20. Defendants subject Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective to productivity

requirements. They are production workers, producing Defendants' core product,

not administrators of Defendants' general business operations or makers of

Defendants' overarching policies.

21. Defendants require Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collectiye to produce a

minimum number of appraisal reports each month. For those appraisals that exceed

an Appraiser's minimum threshold, Defendants pay the Appraiser an additional

fixed amount per appraisal.

22. Appraisers have to produce each appraisal report under Defendants'

pre-established guidelines within a set period of time and by a set due date. If an

Appraiser fails to meet Defendants' deadlines and/or performance standards, he or

6
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she can face discipline, which includes, but is not limited to, verbal warnings,

write-ups, reduction in high-value assignments, and/or termination.

23. Because of tight production deadlines, high quality standards,

customer scheduling constraints, demanding workloads, and fear of discipline,

Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective routinely work far in excess of forty hours per

week.

24. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective lack significant discretion over

appraisal values they assigned. Regulatory and industry standards dictate appraisal

methods. Defendants review all appraisal reports to ensure the reports meet

Defendantsguidelines. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective must run their appraisal

reports through an automated-review system. Defendants' managers, who

supervise Plaintiffs and those similarly situated, are able to suspend appraisals

and/or retum reports for corrections or modifications.

25. Upon information and belief, Defendants suffered and permitted

Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective to work more than forty hours per week without

appropriate overtime compensation.

26. Defendants' unlawfiil conduct has been widespread, repeated, and

consistent.

27. Upon information and belief, Defendants knew that Plaintiffs and the

FLSA Collective performed work requiring overtime pay. Defendants operated

7
COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT



Case 4:18-cv-Q2808 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 08/14/18 Page 8 of 17

under a scheme to deprive these employees of appropriate overtime compensation

by failing to properly compensate them for all hours worked.

28. Upon information and belief, Defendants misclassified Plaintiffs and

members of the FLSA Collective as "exempt" from federal overtime laws.

Defendants misrepresented to these employees that they were "exempt" and not

entitled to overtime pay for hours worked in excess of forty a week.

29. Upon information and belief, Defendants knew that while Appraisers

were misclassified as exempt, Appraisers were working overtime hours. On several

occasions, verbally and in writing, Plaintiffs complained to their supervisors about

their long hours and inadequate pay.

30. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are not exempt based on the

executive employee exemption because their job duties do not include managing

Defendantsbusiness, a department within Defendants' business, or a subdivision

thereof. Further, Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective do not direct the work of two

or more other full-time employees or their equivalent. In addition, Plaintiffs and

the FLSA Collective do not have any hiring or firing authority over other

employees.

31. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are not exempt based on the

administrative employee exemption because their primary job duties do not include

work directly related to the management or general business operations of

8
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Defendants or Defendantscustomers, the exercise of discretion and independent

judgment with respect to matters of significance, nor the setting of any policies for

Defendants.

32. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are not exempt based on the learned

professional exemption because their job duties do not require advanced

knowledge in a field of science or leaming.

33. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are not exempt based on the

outside sales exemption because their job duties do not include making sales or

obtaining orders. They generate no new loan business for Defendants. Rather, they

appraise properties assigned to them, assisting in producing Defendants' products,

sold by others.

34. Defendants' conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, was willful and

in bad faith, and has caused significant damages to Plaintiffs and the FLSA

Collective.

35. Defendants are liable under the FLSA for improperly compensating

Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective, so the FLSA Collective should receive notice.

Defendants denied overtime pay in violation of the FLSA to numerous similarly

situated current and forrner employees. These employees would benefit from

receiving a Court-supervised notice of the present lawsuit and the opportunity to

9
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join. Defendants know which employees are similarly situated and can identify

them through its records.

CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay Overtime Compensation in Violation of

the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective)

36. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the FLSA Collective, allege

and incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

37. The FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207(a), requires covered employers, such as

Defendants, to compensate all non-exempt employees at a rate ofnot less than one

and one-half times the regular rate of pay for work perfonned in excess of forty

(40) hours per work week.

38. During the FLSA Collective Period, Defendants suffered and

permitted Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective to work in excess of forty (40) hours

per workweek. Despite the hours worked by Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective,

Defendants willfully, in bad faith, and in knowing violation of the FLSA, failed

and refused to pay them the appropriate overtime compensation for all hours

worked in excess of forty (40).

39. By failing to accurately record, report, and preserve records of hours

worked by Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective, Defendants have failed to make,

keep, and preserve records with respect to each of its employees sufficient to

10
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determine their wages, hours, and other conditions and practice of employment, in

violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.

40. The foregoing conduct, as alleged, constitutes a willful violation

within the meaning of FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 255(a).

41. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the FLSA Collective, seek

damages in the amount of their unpaid overtime compensation, liquidated damages

from three years immediately preceding the filing of this action, interest and costs

as allowed under FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 216(b) and 255(a), and any other legal and

equitable relief the Court finds just and proper.

42. Under FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves

and the FLSA Collective, seek payment of their attorneysfees and costs by

Defendants.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

43. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all members of

the FLSA Collective, pray for relief as follows:

A. That the Court find Defendants violated the overtime provisions of

the FLSA as to Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective;

B. That the Court find Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to

maintain accurate time records of all hours worked by Plaintiffs

and the FLSA Collective;

11
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C. That the Court find Defendantsviolations as described above to

be willful;

D. That the Court award to Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective the

amount of unpaid wages owed, liquidated damages, and penalties

where provided by federal law, plus interest, subject to proof at

trial;

E. That the Court grant declaratory relief stating Defendants' scheme

is unlawful, and enjoin Defendants from perpetuating this

misclassification scheme;

F. For an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs under 29

U.S.C. § 216; and

G. For any other relief, in law or equity, this Court finds appropriate

and just.

Dated: July 19, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

B:

A
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1330 Broadway, Suite 1630
Oakland, California 94612
Tel: (510) 444-9300
Fax: (510) 444-9301
Emails:

bryan@bryanschwartzlaw.com
rachel@bryanschwartzlaw.com
decarol@bryanschwartzlaw.com
*Pro hac vice application
forthcoming.
Attorneysfor Individual and

Representative Plaintiffs and the
Putative FLSA Collective
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1 CONSENTFORM AND DECLARATION

2 I hereby corisent.tO join a lawsnit against ASsurant, as. a Plaintiff to asseit oIaiins against it
for violations of the wage and hour laws of the United State and/Or the state(s) where Iworked:;for Assurant During the paA three years, there were occasions When I worked over 40 hoursper.4 'Week for AssUrarit and did nct receive all overtime Compensation due.

Workedfor Assurant as a (please check all that apply):
-5. CI Staff-Appraiser. •

6
Other (Specify Title:

PurStiarit tO 28 U S C § 1746; I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true. and7
- co-i*Ct to thebest Of my knoWledge, information, and belief

•8 -:

J,th Uagillaft fun 21 2018
9, Kennon: C Colman (..lun21., 4118-.)

Signature - Date
- 10

Kenhetli •C.Colemati
1.1

• Print Name
12 Conroe Tekas
13 • Location(s) Wcriced:(Cit)*ate)
14 - 02/27/20-17 to 06/17/2018

Approximate Data OfEmployment with
15 Assurant _multiple, inciude dates for each one)
:16

InforinatiOn beloW thisline:Will be redacted.befOre filing with theCourt.....
17.: •

•
_

_ •

•.
• •.

18 ;•

-.
- •--

19: Pax pt •Mail TO:-
- 20

21 7""•
Biyan Schwartz Law -

••..

1330 Broathiray, Suite 1630
r •

-

22 •

r•.04k14/i.d, CA 94612
-

23 FAX(510) 444-9391-

' •.

•....-

24 Or Entail a Signed PDF To;
raehel@bryanschwartzlaw.coin.4-'4.;.•:25 •.

.„„-..

•
'

• ri
16

27
•,

28

'

CONSENT AND DECLARATION.
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1 CONSENT FORM ANDDECLARATION,
2 I hereby consent to join a lawsuit against Assurant, as a Plaintiff to assert claims against it

for violations of the wacre and hour laws of the United States and/or the state(s) where I worked3 z=

for Assurant. During the past three years, there were occasions when I worked over 40 hours per
4 week for Assurant and did not receive all overthne compensation due.

I worked for Assurant as a (please check all that apply):
• 5 IZ Staff Appraiser.

6
Other (Specify Title:

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of_perjury that the foregoing is true and7
correct to the best ofmy knowledge, information, and belief. •

• 8
Ridfif/Wenj. Jul 12, 2018

9 Paul Amens {Jul 11,203.81

Signature Date
10

Paul Ameris
11 Print Narne

12 •PaulAmeris
13 • Location(s) Worked (City/State)

• 14
•

Miami/Florida
Approximate Dates ofEmployment with •

15 Assurant (ifmultiple, include dates for each one)
16

information below this line will be redacted before filing with the Court.
17

•

',
18

_

.;

•. •

-

19;.
Fax or MailTo:. --

•

20.•-:
-•-•

• - _..
21 Bryan Schwartz Law --

1330 Broadway, Suite 1630
22 Oakhnd, CA 94612

23
--,"

- FAX (510) 444-9301

24 Or Email a Signed PDF To:
- • '

decarol@bryanschwartzlaw.com
25 ••=:•-• — •

•

-

.• • '..
26

27

28

CONSENT AND DECLARATION
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